 “A Second Life ”

              (A screenplay by Bob Damia)

Scene: INT: An Assembly Hall. The Present.

An attractive 24year old woman with a long, thick, swath of blonde in her beautiful dark brown shoulder length hair, at a podium, addressing her college graduating class at the New York College for The Performing Arts (NYCPA). (Her name is Maryanne Levesque).

         Maryanne’s address to the graduates:

For me, the road here has been a long and at times an arduous one. As you well know, your lives are just beginning. I, on the other hand was given another chance. This is my “Second Life”…I’m fairly certain I am not completely alone when I tell you that, were it not for others, I wouldn’t be standing here today…however, this is not about anyone but me (and my twin sister Joanne). I hope it inspires you.

                 Maryanne: (cont’d)

We grew up in a small, kind of boring, albeit very wealthy, Connecticut town known for its’ access to highways that would bring you to either Boston in 55 minutes or New York in 90…both were destinations I chose while cutting classes as early as age 13. My twin (Joanne), the “perfect sister” never came along. She never got into any trouble, never cut classes, never cursed, did drugs or caused any problems as a youngster.  I, on the other hand, did.

Joanne was 5 minutes older than me and as early as age 6, much wiser and way more manipulative. Our parents tried to treat us equal, as parents do, but, it seemed obvious to me at a very early age that both my Mother and Father preferred her rather quiet and somewhat shy style over my louder, more aggressive, almost pushy one…Joanne could get either of them to do just about anything, while I found it much more difficult to get what I wanted, when I wanted it. 

I’m not talking about material things. I’m talking about, for example lessons I was interested in, in the arts that would have required trips to NY weekly. While we both took ballet, dance, figure skating and other classes that young kids take, when Joanne lost interest, our parents would pull us both out and say “we’ll find something you both love so you can do it together”, with absolutely no consideration for how I felt about the subject. At times, just as I was beginning to flourish, I would be cut from a class I was thoroughly enjoying, because my twin found it boring or couldn’t do it as well as me and at any cost, could not accept me being better than her at anything.

It taught me something about pursuing your dreams. Being the steward of your own life is an admirable quality, but we all need others to truly flourish. As you all go out into the real world, whether you are an actor, musician, writer, singer, composer, artist or all of the above.  Fame and fortune, if that’s what you seek, can be wonderful, yes. They can be part of what you are, but they will never be who you are. It took me a very long time and many mistakes to realize what I sought, was already there for the taking. The only work I had to do to see it was to open my eyes. I see it now. I thank God, my parents, my deceased sister and many others, and especially the Orr Family, every day for teaching me what I was so intent on ignoring. 

All of you are the very best, the top of the list, when it comes to your chosen area of expertise. The small graduating classes here at NYCPA are small for a reason. There are very few of you with the skills and talent it takes to do what you do. Be very proud, but above all, do good things, do great work and love what you do. I’m four or five years older than most of you, yet we graduate together. You are the epitome of professionalism, yet I am the one with professional roles on my resume. What I did prior to coming here and learning what I should have learned years ago means nothing. I am so inspired by you. You all knew at a very early age exactly what you wanted and you went for it, the right way, with focus and determination.

I am so blessed to be among you. I thank you for the honor of being chosen to deliver this message. I love each and every one of you and can hardly express my gratitude to the staff, my instructors, my teachers, all of you, my peers and again, my parents and the Orrs. Now, as we say in this business, BREAK A LEG!

Thank-you.

          An anonymous voice above the applause:

                  We love you Mare !

Scene: INT: Central Ct. Memorial Hospital. Evening.

October 29th, 1983. Twin Girls are born in Ct. to a 40ish wealthy couple. The first baby (Joanne) was an easy birth. The second, 5 minutes later, (Maryanne) was “breach”. Yes, Maryanne was difficult from the very beginning.

A montage of photos and scenes depicting the twins growing older and growing apart.

Scene: INT: First day of Kindergarten. Day. 

Maryanne welcomes the beginning of her new independence from her parents. She gets right to playing, interacting, acting and having the time of her very young life, ignoring her twin in the process. Joanne cries uncontrollably as her mother leaves and continues to do so for an hour or so, after. This scene repeats itself daily for nearly three months). 

Scene: INT: The twins’ teacher, sitting in an office, on the phone with Mrs. Levesque. DAY.
                      Teacher:

I cannot understand the huge difference in the personalities of these two beautiful little twin girls. Both are very smart, but Maryanne will get up and speak to the others, as if emulating me and tries hard to act as if her mirror image doesn’t exist. Joanne retreats to a corner, listens well but rarely participates, especially if it requires her speaking or explaining herself to others.

Is this common Mrs. Levesque? 

                     Mrs. Levesque:

I’ll talk with her. Thanks for your concern, but they are very different little girls.

Scene: EXT: The film fades to a backyard scene of a family barbecue/10th birthday party. DAY.

The two guests of honor, the twins, are staring each other down from across a picnic table, not saying a word while Maryanne has what appears to be mustard and ketchup all over her white  “Mystic Seaport” sweatshirt and Joanne looks picture perfect, in her light blue dress with white accents, smiling at her parents like a “little angel”. It’s unusually warm for late October, so the Levesque’s decided a barbecue, outdoors, is a better choice for the 36 or so children attending the twins’ party.

Including adults, there’s about 50 guests total. Maryanne had a dress on earlier as well, but as soon as her parents’ attention was diverted, changed into her favorite jeans, sneakers and the Mystic sweatshirt they had bought on a recent trip to the (re-created) 200 year old fishing and whaling port. The Levesque’s agreed, it’s her day, let her wear what she wants. Maryanne is totally entertaining the vast majority of the other children. Acting and leading the kids like a pint-sized director in an outdoor production she wrote, produced and is now starring in. Joanne is staying close to her parents.

                   Mrs. Levesque:

                    TIME TO EAT!

The kids come running and she sits the twins opposite each other at one of the long picnic tables they rented for the occasion. It’s not long before it starts.

                     Joanne:

Sticking her tongue out and making faces at her slightly younger sister. You are stupid.

                     Maryanne:

I hate you, your stupid and ugly. I hate being your sister. I hope you die.

               Maryanne:(narrating) 

At 10 years old children say a lot of things they simply don’t mean. Anger is an emotion that is difficult to control at a very young age. I, nonetheless, meant it. 

                     Maryanne:

I really wish you would die. My life would be perfect if you weren’t here.

                 Maryanne:(narrating)
Our parents and the family’s closest friends could tell us apart rather easily. Most family friends as well as casual acquaintances found it much more difficult. At age 11, I decided to put peroxide in my hair in a streak from the roots to the very end in about a 3inch swath, so people would never mistake me for “her”.

Of course my parents went nuts, but even the hairdresser my mother used for twenty years said, “it’s best just to let it grow out, coloring it may make it worse and it looks kind of cute anyway”. My Mom couldn’t have disagreed more but she relented. “It’ll grow out…eventually”, she said.

My hairstyles and cuts have changed dramatically over the years, but to this day there’s a blonde streak, pretty much exactly where I put it, when I was 11.

Scene: INT: forward in timeline. A very dark room. Day. 

Light is coming through a vent in what appears to be an attic. The shadow of a figure dangling from one of the exposed rafters, hung by the neck in apparent suicide is eerily creepy. As the body spins slightly, it’s blatantly obvious that it’s a teenager, a young girl, post pubescent…almost a woman. Her long, dark brown hair nearly covering her entire face. Her eyes wide open, bulging and as blue as can be…dead and cold now. An overturned orange bucket, her hands covered in blood and still dripping slightly from her fingertips, a pool of blood and a bloody box-cutter beneath her shoeless feet, on the floor.  

Scene: EXT: A Turnpike on ramp headed north on I95. Day.

A beautiful teenager (Maryanne), with dark hair, incredible blue eyes, a body that should be reserved for much older women and an amazing smile is hitchhiking on the Connecticut Turnpike, headed for Boston. It won’t be long before she hitches a ride. The second car picks her up. She throws her large duffel in the back seat and sits down.

                     Maryanne:

Thanks, what’s your name? 

                       Bill:

Bill…call me Bill.

                    Maryanne:

Nice to meet you Bill.

                       Bill:

You too.

After a brief conversation with the driver reveals the girl (lying) is going back to college, she tells him her car broke down (lying again) and she’s going to miss an important exam. Bill decides to give her a lift anywhere. He has two daughters of his own and can’t imagine them in this situation. He decides to be a Good Samaritan. Bill drops her off exactly where she wants to go, The Boston College Campus. That same day, at Faneuil Hall, near the Boston Commons, Maryanne meets a guy and a girl who will eventually take her in for a few days. Dave and Gail. The common interests they share were revealed almost immediately, Dave is a writer that works from home. Gail is an assistant director in a local junior college’s drama department. 

After a few days at their place she senses Gail is getting jealous as she exits the shower in a towel. Dave is caught staring at Maryanne for the third time in as many days. Gail thinks to herself. This is NOT going to work. Maryanne hangs out at Faneuil Hall, the Commons and various other areas where the college students hang out daily, trying to hook-up with like-minded students of the arts. 

In just a few short days she realizes N.Y. City is where she needs to be, not Boston.  Maryanne bids Dave and Gail farewell, lies to them about her transportation to Manhattan, thanks them and with a kiss on the cheek for each of them she leaves. Hitchhiking to NY may be risky, but she’s determined to be in Manhattan before sundown. Without any trouble, she’s successful. Maryanne calls a school friend by the name of Kim that’s now in private school in Manhattan. She’s staying with an aunt and uncle. Her friend lies to her aunt.

                           Kim:

Auntie? An eighteen year old “actress friend” is coming to the City and I wanted to ask you, could she stay here for a few days?

                         Auntie:

Of course, but, just a few days.

A few days is all Maryanne needs. She attracts a lot of people, for obvious reasons. Good as well as bad. She chooses the former, almost exclusively. It’s not long before she’s working, has a boyfriend she’s sharing a studio apartment with and is actually getting some small roles in the theaters.   

Scene: EXT: Outside a media/music store, in Manhattan. Day.
                 Maryanne:(narrating)

I am now working in a music/media shop Manhattan. I lied on my job application about my age (I said I was 18) to get this job. The pay sucks, but I get to work with and around music, the arts, actors and film… my passion. At 15, and appearing much older, I fit right in with the older, more mature employees, because of (thanks to my Dad) my knowledge of music of all kinds and eras and the fact that I’ve had three minor roles on Broadway thus far, cement my credibility in this environment.

My boyfriend, Michael, works here too. Michael is 22 and has had roles in 10 off and off, off Broadway plays and musicals. He got me fake I.D.’s with my new last name (my new “stage name”, LEE) He plays six different instruments, writes, he’s in a band, he dances, sings, acts and is an all around great guy. He seems to invite a lot of people into his life and they seem honored by the invitation. One major problem is that Michael has been addicted to pain medication (preferably, percodan or percocet) since a fall off the stage 2 years ago in a revival of “HAIR”. A bad knee, a back injury and a shoulder that never seems to stop hurting are a major source of pain that he simply cannot seem to manage. He refuses to slow down because he says, this is my time, I can’t do it now, I have to keep working.  He says he’s going to kick the habit but has found multiple ways to augment the supply of pills that he gets from his regular doctor when they run out after 4 or 5 days. He even asked me to go to a doctor to get more for him and simply put…I love him…so, I do it.

He claims he doesn’t get high from them anymore, but with his schedule at work, auditions, the late evenings with his band and the 16 hour days spent mostly on his feet, it has not given him the time to heal properly and the pains from his injuries are excruciating. I take one or two occasionally and with a beer or a glass of wine they sure do get rid of what ails you. I prefer “pot” or an occasional tab of “ecstasy”, but I am finding I like these pain pills quite a bit after a long day of work or rehearsals. Although I have tried a lot of different drugs for my young age, I can take them or leave them. I simply don’t have an addictive personality. I do love a nice cold beer though, but even that, I can do without. My parents smelled beer on my breath once and they think I’m a drug addict and an alcoholic. Joanne, of course, is “perfect”.

Scene: INT: The Levesque home. 

Mr. Levesque is standing, talking on the phone, while Mrs. Levesque is sitting on a couch in the background.

                     Mr. Levesque:

Well officer. All leads seem to point to the Faneuil Hall and Commons areas.

Our 15year old daughter has been missing for over 3 months now. Her name is Maryanne Levesque and this is our umpteenth time calling. These leads are simply not being followed up. Do you have children?

                       Officer:

Yes, three.

                    Mr. Levesque:

Then you should understand.

                       Officer:

I do sir.

                    Mr. Levesque:

We’re coming up there again and you better be prepared to find my daughter or there will be hell to pay. 

Scene: INT: The Levesque kitchen. 

                       Joanne:

Dad, Mom, can I stay here in case anybody calls with any significant information? I really don’t feel up to any 

trips today.

                    Mr. Levesque:

Okay, Jo, but we’re calling the Aimad’s to keep an eye on you. 

                       Joanne:

What? What am I nine years old?

                    Mr. Levesque:

That’s not open for discussion.

Mrs. Aimad (Claudette) agrees, however, Saturday night they have plans but their oldest daughter Christa (everyone calls her Chris) is home from college and would be there and maybe she could go over and spend the night there, at their place with Joanne? Sounds fine. Not a babysitter, just companionship, of course.

Joanne has known Christa since the Aimads moved in 3 years ago, but never really spoke much to her, except an occasional hi in the driveway and once the family invited them over for a cook-out and they spoke for awhile until Christa’s boyfriend picked her up.

When Chris shows up at about 7:00 Saturday, it seems pretty obvious she’s been drinking. She is quite a beauty. Athletic and blonde she’s carrying a backpack and it appears bulky and heavy. She “falls” into an oversized sofa and proceeds to open the backpack.

                    Christa(Chris):

Joanne…want a drink?

                       Joanne:

Oh no, I don’t drink.

                        Chris:

Oh …come on, it’s just Vodka. I’ll mix it with OJ and you’ll love it. You like OJ don’t you?

                       Joanne:

Sure.

Chris pours herself a double and makes a Screwdriver for Joanne.
                        Chris:

Put on some music…let’s party!  

With David Bowie, chosen from a vast vinyl collection, blasting in the background, Chris does a double shot of straight Vodka while Joanne sips at her Screwdriver.

                       Joanne: 

This isn’t bad, I like it.

                       Chris:

See, I told you….drink up, let’s have another.

About 45 minutes and three drinks later the effects of the alcohol are apparent and Joanne is feeling a little loopy.

                       Chris:

Let’s go upstairs and try on clothes and have some more cocktails. 

Joanne is agreeable to practically anything now. Feeling good and happy for the company. She leads the way upstairs and into her bedroom. Her walk-in closet stuffed with great clothes, shoes, boots and accessories, Chris immediately strips down to just her panties. Joanne follows suit, but decides to leave her bra on. For a 15 year old, she’s built as good or better as her 19year old counterpart. Both girls are completely devoid of inhibitions after one more drink and end up completely naked and staring furtively, to get a glimpse of each other’s bodies. 

The older, Chris, after trying on nearly every outfit in Joanne’s closet, suggests taking showers to wash off the effect of the booze a little.

                      Chris:

Let’s take showers. It’ll get rid of some of the booze’s effects.

                      Joanne:

I don’t know. Er, well, I guess that’d be cool.

Joanne is following the older girls’ lead and is enamored by her beauty.

The two of them are stark naked and enter the shower together. After a few moments of silence.

                      Chris:

Could you wash my back? 

                      Joanne:

Of course.

In what seems like an instant, Chris turns around, softly cupping Joanne’s left breast and kisses her passionately. Joanne responds with an ooh, that up to this point, was reserved for her 16 year old boyfriend, TJ. After nearly 15 minutes of “making out” they get out of the shower, dry off and, hop onto the bed. This is the first time in her short life Joanne has an orgasm and she’s in love….thoroughly in love.  Months pass and the lovemaking repeats itself each time Chris comes home for the weekend, which has increased dramatically, since her and Joanne hooked-up.

Scene: INT: The DMV. Day.

The Monday after Joanne’s (and Maryanne’s) sixteenth birthday.  Sweet sixteen is usually a big deal for young women, but with Maryanne missing for nearly 6 months now, a party was limited to family and a few very close friends. 

Chris drove down from Boston College for the weekend to attend and that was all that mattered to Joanne.

With her Mom, Dad and “newest best friend” Chris, waiting in the DMV parking lot in the family Cadillac, Joanne aces the driving test as well as the written, gets her license and makes plans to drive to Boston to see her love interest the very next weekend. Her Dad lets her drive the Cadillac home and she impresses him with her abilities already.

Scene: EXT: Inside her brand new Lexus hybrid, SUV. Dusk.

Joanne is looking for the exit. As it approaches she’s unsure if she’ll be able to get off because of the heavy traffic to her right…biting her lip, she decides to go for it and narrowly misses a beat up Buick in the process. I think I’m here! A parking spot directly in front of Chris’ building opens up as she approaches. What luck. Attempting a parallel parking maneuver will be a challenge, but after banging into the behemoth Hummer behind her and setting off the alarm, the fact that the front of her new car was sticking out 10 inches further than the back was of no concern whatsoever. 

She grabs her “stuff” sets the alarm and just as she was nearing the front door, Chris shows up outside, cocktail in hand, to help her.

                      Chris:

It’s Saturday and it’s party night! 

                      Joanne:

Well then, let’s party! 

Scene: INT: a drugstore in Manhattan. Early Night. 

                       Pharmacist:

Ms. Lee? You’ll have to come back in an hour.

                        Maryanne:

But I have rehearsal in 20 minutes.

                       Pharmacist:

I’m sorry, we’re very busy. 

Michael is waiting in the coffee shop next door and is not terribly happy when he hears the news.

                        Michael:

An hour? What the fuck Mare, I’m in pain here.

                       Maryanne:
I’m sorry…I have to go, Michael. I told the druggist, my boyfriend would pick them up and he said that would be fine, I’ll see you after rehearsal at your gig.

Michael waits the hour and walks into the pharmacy.

                        Michael:

I’m here to pick up Maryanne Lee’s prescription.

                      Pharmacist:

Not just yet sir, about 10 more minutes.

                        Michael:

I’ll just wait.

Michael appears pissed off, but sits quietly…about 20 minutes later they call him to the counter and give him Maryanne’s pills.

Exiting the pharmacy, he immediately takes 4 of the Percodan with a Red Bull he bought in the drug store and within 15 minutes is feeling “himself” again. Two hours later, while at a sound check for the bands’ gig that night he’s feeling “off” and takes 4 more. With 8 Percodan in two hours in his system, even he is feeling a little lightheaded, dry-mouthed and “high”.

He decides to ask the bartender, who is readying the bar for a crowded Saturday night, for a beer.

                         Michael:

Hi Todd. Can I get a cold one?

                          Todd:

Sure Mike.

Todd cracks open a Bud longneck and Michael “chugs it” like he hasn’t had a drink in days.

                          Todd:

Another?

                         Michael:

Yes, Please.

                          Todd:
That’s $8, Mike.

            Michael:(handing Todd a $10 bill)

Keep the change.

Michael decides to take four more “percs” and 15 minutes later is found on the floor of the men’s room by a band mate, covered in vomit and not breathing. 

Todd calls 911 but it’s too late. 

Maryanne shows up at the venue and sees the band all set up but no one playing. 

                        Maryanne:

Where’s Michael? 

                   Maryanne:(louder)

Where’s Michael?

Donnie, the lead singer, grabs her by the elbow and leads her outside to tell her what happened.  Maryanne breaks down and immediately falls to the sidewalk hysterical just as a detective pulls up to further investigate.

                      Detective:

What’s going on here?

                         Donnie:
She’s the guy who dieds’ girlfriend.

                       Detective:

Are you Maryanne Lee? 

                    Maryanne:(sobbing)

Yes I am. Why?

                       Detective:

Michael had a prescription in his pocket with your name on it.

                       Maryanne:

Oh yeah, he picked them up for me.

                       Detective:

Well, there were 12 pills missing and he picked the “scrip” up less than 4 hours ago. He also had a lot of booze in his system and once we get the complete tox reports, we’ll know more. The doctors said it appeared he was abusing pills for quite awhile. What do you know about that?

                       Maryanne:
Me? Not much…I told him he could have 2 or 3 for his back and shoulder pain, maybe he gave some to someone else.

                       Detective: 

Young lady…you’re going to have to come with me.

                       Maryanne:

What did I do? 

                       Detective:

Just get in the car and watch your head.

Maryanne is sobbing in the back seat and disoriented.

                       Maryanne:
Where are we going?

                      Detective:

To the precinct.

Maryanne nervously stares out the window unable to recognize where she is and thinks this is it. I’m caught. They are going to send me back to hell when they figure out who I really am. I’m completely fucked here, Michael’s dead and I’m going to have to go home to that nightmare again…shit! 

A subsequent autopsy confirms that Michael had an inflamed “bursa” in his left shoulder, a completely swollen, soft tissue injury in his left knee and three compressed discs in his lower back. Any one of which would cause immense pain. The three combined would have been unbearable. After his fall and first visit to the doctor, he was advised the pain medications and other pills prescribed were “short term” relief and that he would have to address these problems, one at a time, and soon, to live a normal life, free of pain.

He never did any of the things suggested by the doctor. Instead, he went to other doctors saying with each visit, that he was dissatisfied with the therapies his “other doctor” prescribed. He was getting more pain pills with each visit. People invariably liked him. It was “easy” to get what he wanted and he knew it.

Michael now had as many as three different doctors prescribing him pain meds every 60 days or so, telling each of them that his present schedule would not allow any respite from his obligations at work, with the band or pursuing his stage career and that he had every intention of taking care of the issues as soon as possible. 


I’ll be able to take some time off in the summer he’d tell one. The others he would give the other seasons as his target date, all the while getting more drugs to dull his senses so he could continue working a “brutal” schedule and doing more damage in the process, to his young body.

Scene: INT: a Girl’s dorm at Boston College. 

Joanne’s on her forth or fifth screwdriver and is starting to be a little “clingy” to Chris. A few of the girls at her dorm know that Chris is a “bi” girl but, not everyone and if that gets around every guy on campus will want her to fulfill their fantasies.

                         Chris:

Joanne, you’ve gotta stop crawling all over me…please!

Hurt and somewhat shocked, Joanne retreats to a comfy sofa close to the action. For a girl who has been drinking, occasionally, for only a few months, she’s on a mission to get wasted tonight. She happens to glance at a very attractive redhead who approaches Chris from behind. As she gets closer the redhead reaches out and grabs Chris’ butt and gives it a squeeze. Joanne is furious that another girl would do this to her “girlfriend” and when she sees Chris’ reaction, of a smile and a kiss on the cheek, it only makes her more upset. She finishes her drink, stumbles to the bar for another and walks over to her lover.

                       Joanne:

You CUNT! 

Joanne never swears. Her jealousy is foreign to Chris.

                       Chris:

FUCK OFF!

                    Joanne:(throwing her cup and ice at the front door as she leaves)

Go fuck yourself, you dyke! 

After finally finding her keys Joanne starts the Lexus, bangs into the Hummer setting off the alarm again and then she scrapes the Honda in front of her as she exits the parking place.

                 Joanne:(screaming)

Fuck-you bitch…you suck, you lesbian cunt!

Distressed, drunk and lost she enters the freeway going in the wrong direction for nearly twenty miles before realizing it. 

She exits, turns left, another left and gets back on the freeway going the “right way”. About 90 minutes later she pulls up in front of her home and thinks aloud, what am I going to tell my parents?  Getting home without killing anyone or myself was a minor miracle in itself…now I have to deal with them, stinking of booze, heartbroken and damaged, by my first real love, at 2:00 a.m. no less.

Luckily, Mom and Dad are fast asleep. Joanne enters her room as quietly as possible in her condition and as soon as she hits the pillow she’s gone…out like a light…fully dressed, shoes still on. Despite being “crushed” she falls into a deep sleep immediately. 

At 6:00 a.m. Joanne is awakened by her Mom and Dad’s phone ringing incessantly…

                      Joanne:

PLEASE PICK UP THE PHONE, DAD …PLEASE!

In about two minutes both her parents come into her room with the news.

                    Mr. Levesque:

They found your sister.

                 Joanne:(sarcastically)

Oh, goodie.

                    Mr. Levesque:

We have to drive to Manhattan and you’re coming with us.

                      Joanne:

What? NO. I don’t feel good.

                  Mrs. Levesque:

Why are you even here? We thought you were staying with Chris in Boston. What time did you get home? Did you sleep in your clothes? Why is your eye makeup all messed up? Have you been crying? What happened?

                      Joanne:

Leave me alone please…I have a headache. I’m not going to NY with you either…I could care less if I ever see her again. In fact, if she moves back here, I’m moving out.

                   Mrs. Levesque:

Oh really…where are you going to go? Are you moving in with Chris? 

                      Joanne:

FUCK CHRIS! 

Joanne’s parents had never heard her swear before. They looked at each other knowing something bad had happened.

                   Mrs. Levesque:
You must come with us to get Maryanne….we are wasting time…please come now!

                      Joanne:

I AM NOT GOING WITH YOU…LEAVE ME ALONE! I have a headache. 

                  Mrs. Levesque:

Please Jo, we’ll talk in the car…

                      Joanne:

NO,NO,NO! I am not going with you!

                  Mr. Levesque:

You ungrateful little shit. This is your sister. Your twin sister. If you don’t come, you’ll be sorry Missy.

                      Joanne:

Fine…leave me alone, please leave now…GO!

                  Mr. Levesque:

Your sister Maryanne is supposed to be the bad twin and you act like this. When we get back, you will be very sorry young lady, very sorry.

                      Joanne: 

Yeah, okay Dad, whatever.

Scene: INT: the Levesque kitchen clock shows 3:00 p.m. Joanne is in the garage.

Looking for something. She finds it. It’s a rope used for when they have yard sales to cordon off the front grass so the hundreds that show up don’t trample it. It’s that really good kind used for climbing. It’s way more rope than she needs so she searches for something to cut it. Ah, a razor knife. After cutting about 15 feet of it she slips the knife into her jeans pocket, grabs a 5gallon orange colored bucket and throws the rope inside.

She enters the attic through the garage access ladder and fumbles for the light…she hits the switch and the bulb immediately burns out. “I won’t need much light anyway,” she thinks. She makes a small loop in the rope, threads the other end through, throws it over the rafter, secures the other end to a metal hook protruding from one of the beams, so the rope is taught, then flips the pail over, stands on it, puts the loop around her neck tightly, takes the razor knife out of her pocket, cuts both wrists with conviction the very first try and proceeds to kick the bucket from under her, leaving herself dangling less than 6 inches from the floor…just enough to get the job done…within minutes Joanne…the good twin….is dead.

Scene: INT: NYPD Precinct, 13. Manhattan

As Maryanne was being released from the NYPD, her parents had to sign her out because she was a minor. Her Dad was livid, her Mom forgiving, but both had a lot to discuss on the trip from NY to Connecticut.

The most important thing to Maryanne at this juncture was Michael. Was his body being taken care of? Would he be buried in a “real cemetery”? Would there be a “service?” Could she attend? Are his parents even aware of his passing? So many questions… The three of them are getting into the Cadillac.

                   Mr. Levesque:

Starting now things are going to change. They are going to change, starting now…with you Missy. 

Whenever he was cross with his girls he called them (both) Missy.

                Mr. Levesque:(cont’d)

Your sister has picked up some of your habits of late and I’m nipping that in the bud as soon as we get back home.

Two daughters like you will put your mother and me in an early grave. 

Maryanne only heard the word “grave” and tears welled up in her eyes almost immediately. The sobs, the shortness of breath and the moaning were something her Mom could no longer ignore.  

                  Mrs. Levesque:

Do you hate us that much?  Would you rather we left you in NY? Are you ever going to be a daughter we can be proud of?

                     Maryanne:

Please…please Mom, shut the fuck up. I’ve been supporting myself for nearly 7 months. Working a fulltime job, studying my craft, going to auditions and acting whenever I can get a part, no matter how small. 

I have auditioned about 20 times in the last 6 months and have come very close on four very important roles. In fact, the girl I lost out to on one occasion, has been given a long term contract in New Haven at the Long Wharf Theater to star in 3 upcoming shows…I missed that by a whisker. The producer told me if I appeared about 5 years older I would have gotten the role for sure…I’m 16 Mom! He thought I was 21…and I almost landed a contract role professionally with no agent and no representation at all! Please shut the fuck up and leave me alone. 

                     Mrs. Levesque:

Your sister can’t wait to see you.

                Maryanne:(sarcastically)

Yeah, I bet.

                     Mrs. Levesque:

She is really maturing and doing well in school.

                     Maryanne:

Good for her.

                  Mrs. Levesque:

She scored in the top 3% on her PSAT. 

                     Maryanne:
She’s a genius I guess and I’m an idiot. I’m stupid. I don’t know anything. I’m a rebel and I’ll never amount to anything. You know Mom, Joanne and I have the same genes, we share DNA and are identical in every way except what matters. 

                    Mrs. Levesque:

What is that supposed to mean? 

                     Maryanne:

She’s a little kiss-ass that only does what others want and I’m a free thinker that has a mind of my OWN and I tend to use it!

Silence.

                   Mr. Levesque:

You know something Missy? We are so sick of your shit. 

Scene: EXT: the Cadillac approaches the driveway. Night.

They all notice some damage on the rear of the new Lexus.

              Mr. Levesque:(mumbling)

That little shit…already? 

                     Maryanne:

See? Little Miss Perfect isn’t so perfect after all. How long did she have that before she ruined it?

                  Mr. Levesque:

We’ll deal with her when we get inside.

They park in the driveway instead of the garage. The Cadillac is filthy anyway.

Scene: INT: Front Foyer, the Levesque home. 

                  Mr. Levesque:

Joanne! Joanne! Get downstairs and say hello to your sister! 
                 Mrs. Levesque:

JOANNE! We know you’re here!

        Mrs. Levesque:(Talking to her husband)

That little shit…honey, go upstairs and get her, please.  

As Dad enters the upstairs foyer he notices no sign of his other daughter. A search of every room reveals she’s not home, but where is she? Her car is in the driveway and her purse and bag are on the floor near the front door. She must be next door, at Chris’, he thought.

                   Mr. Levesque: 

Honey, call over to Chris’ and see if she’s there, okay? 

              Mrs. Levesque: (on phone)

Hello Claudette, Is my daughter over there?

                  Claudette Aimad 

Why, no, Chris is in Boston. Isn’t Joanne there with her?

                  Mrs. Levesque:

No…she came home late last night and we’re still not certain what happened but she was acting strangely earlier and she’s really pissing us off at this point. Well, let us know if you see or hear from her. Thanks. Oh, by the way, if you speak with your daughter ask her what’s going on. Maybe we can shed some light on all of this. Thanks again.

Scene: INT: The kitchen of the Levesque house.

                  Mrs. Levesque:

Sweetie, are you hungry? We’ll eat now. Joanne can make herself a sandwich when she gets back.

                     Maryanne: 

Yeah Mom. I haven’t eaten in almost two days.
                  Mrs. Levesque:

How about some burgers, chips and cokes?

                    Maryanne:

That’d be great, Mom. 

Mrs. Levesque opening the fridge, notices there’s no 

soda in it.

                   Mrs. Levesque:

Maryanne…could you go out to the garage and get some cokes?
                     Maryanne:

Sure, Mom.

Maryanne opens the door from the kitchen that leads directly to the garage and notices the access ladder to the attic is lowered as if someone had used it to go up there.

                     Maryanne:

Hey Dad…is there a reason the attic ladder is down? Are you doing something the up there? 

                   Mr. Levesque:

No…why? 
                      Maryanne:

Well, it’s down.

                    Mr. Levesque:

Maybe Joanne is up there.

                     Maryanne:

No WAY! She was always petrified of the attic, Maryanne tells both her parents. She hated it up there. She’s such a baby.

As Mr. Levesque is about to put the ladder back in its stored position, he decides before he does he’s going to investigate.

                   Mr. Levesque:

Maryanne, the light is out. Get me a bulb and a flashlight.

                     Maryanne:

Okay Dad.

Maryanne walks halfway into the garage with a bulb and flashlight, just as her father comes tumbling down the ladder steps. 

             Mr. Levesque:(gasping for air)

Get your Mother…its Joanne.

                     Maryanne: 

What? MOM! MOM! CALL 911! NOW!

Maryanne steps up four of the seven ladder rungs, turns on the flashlight and sees her twin sister dangling from the rafter. Blood everywhere, razor knife, bucket, bulging beautiful blue eyes staring at the floor. It’s surreal, she thinks.

                    Maryanne:

MOM…do NOT come up here!
                   Mrs. Levesque:

What? What is it? Is it your sister? Tell Me…Maryanne, WHAT IS IT?

                    Maryanne:

It’s Joanne…I think she’s dead! 

                   Mrs. Levesque:

What? No! No! Let me see.
                    Maryanne:

No, MOM…Mom Please…

                   Mrs. Levesque:

Get down here and stay with your father…NOW !

Mrs. Levesque grabs the flashlight from Maryanne. She knows it’s true. She climbs the ladder, enters the attic and is attempting to get her other daughter down. She sees the bloodied razor knife, grabs it and cuts the rope just above Joanne’s head. Her weight is too much and they both hit the attic floor with a thud.

                    Maryanne:
Mom, are you all right? What’s happening?  

                   Mrs. Levesque:
Nothing, nothing is happening…she’s dead. My little girl is dead. Your sister is dead!

Crying uncontrollably, Mrs. Levesque is sitting in her daughters’ blood, her lifeless body with legs askew and her precious baby’s head in her lap.

                     Maryanne:

MOM…Daddy’s eyes just opened! I think he just passed out. 

Scene: EXT. outside the Levesque family home. Night.

Sirens blaring. Police, ambulance, fire trucks, and emergency response vehicles all arrive within minutes. Maryanne opens the garage door from the inside.

                     Maryanne:

IN HERE! Please!

As the different workers enter the garage it’s apparent Mr. Levesque needs attention. 

                       EMS Tech:

Excuse me honey. Please let us in to do our work. 

The EMS worker begins his evaluation.

                       EMS Tech:

His vitals are stabilizing. Looks like he passed out and fell. Let’s bring him in and get him looked after. He’s also got a “knot” on his head.

                      Maryanne:

Thank-you, thank-you so much. But, my sister is upstairs in the attic. I think she’s dead. My Mom is with her.

            EMS Tech:(addressing a nearby cop)

What? We’re going to need a Detective.

The sergeant in charge gets on his radio and informs the captain of what they just discovered. “I have a detective on the way…over and out.”

As the police begin to enter the attic scene, one sticks his head up through the opening in the attic floor to see exactly what has happened.

                    Police Officer:

Mrs. Levesque? You need to come down here…please. Mrs. Levesque? Could you please come down here and let the police do their job? A detective will be here momentarily and he will need to observe the scene for evidence. He’ll make sure your daughter is taken good care of, I promise. Please. Will you come with me?

As the mother sets her baby daughters’ head down easily on the attic floor she notices a folded up piece of paper in her front pocket, sticking up and above the jeans material. The cop sees her.

                    Police Officer:

Mrs. Levesque? Please don’t touch that. Let the detectives investigate first, please. I promise anything that’s found here at the scene will be returned to you after, if you want it. Come down now, please.

As Mrs. Levesque descends the narrow steps to the garage she says nothing. Covered in blood and sobbing.

                     Police Officer:

Was your daughter depressed? What was her full name? Did she ever try anything like this before? Did she drink or use drugs? Was she on any medications?   

                 Maryanne:(screaming)

STOP…LEAVE HER ALONE, NOT NOW, PLEASE! 

The ambulance carrying Mr.Levesque has already left.

                     Mrs. Levesque:

Where is my husband?

                    Police Officer:

He’s going to be fine. Just a precaution, he has a little bump on his head.

                    Mrs. Levesque:

I want to see him.

                  Police Sergeant:

In a little while, the detectives will have some questions for you here, then, you can go to the hospital, okay?

Silence. Maryanne goes to her mother. She holds her like she never has since she was a toddler. They both break down in hysterical crying and the comfort of each other’s arms is the only thing they are aware of.

Scene: INT: Maryanne in her room, the next day. 

Maryanne is alone, thinking, lying on her “twin” bed. Sobbing for the loss of, first, Michael, then Joanne, and the loss of the family she really never had. Now that Joanne is gone this family will really fall apart, she thought. I have to make Michael’s funeral arrangements. I have to get to the City as soon as possible. I have to help Mom and Dad get through this.

Maryanne begins to make arrangements for Michael. A call to the NY City morgue reveals that Michael’s parents, Don and Lynn Orr, have made specific plans and that Michael’s body will be picked up by a funeral home in Westport for a viewing and subsequent burial.

           Maryanne: (on phone with the morgue)

When? 

                   Morgue employee:
Today before 4:00, according to the request sheet.

                      Maryanne:

Do you know the name of the Funeral Home?

                   Morgue employee:

Armstrong, in Westport.

                      Maryanne:

You wouldn’t happen to have the Orr’s phone number, would you?

                   Morgue employee:

Yes, honey, but I’m not at liberty to give it out. Call the funeral home they should have more details.

                        Maryanne:

 Okay, Thanks. 

Scene: INT: Mr. and Mrs. Levesque sitting in the living room quietly looking at photos of their twins. 

                      Mr. Levesque:

This is going to be very difficult.

                     Mrs. Levesque:

I can’t do this. I can’t bury my beautiful little girl. 

                      Mr. Levesque:

We’ll get through this honey. If Maryanne decides to join this family, we’ll get through this. We still have one of our little girls and that’s the only good thing.
Maryanne appears with her coat, boots, scarf and gloves on, standing in the doorway between the living room and foyer.

                       Maryanne:

Dad…I need a ride to Westport to help the Orr’s with Michael’s burial. I NEED to see him one last time and I have to go now.

                     Mr. Levesque:

Maryanne, we have so many things to do here with all of OUR arrangements and your mother is not feeling well. 

                       Maryanne:  

Dad, please don’t make me beg. Dad, I NEED to go to 

Westport…please!

                     Mr. Levesque:

Maryanne, your sister just killed herself, your mother is a mess and I’m in no shape to be running you around all over Ct. for your boyfriend’s funeral arrangements, we have our own funeral to deal with.

                       Maryanne:

You see Dad? This is exactly why I left. Even after she’s dead she’s more important than me. I’m glad she killed herself!  

Mrs. Levesque lets out a plaintive wail when she hears what her daughter just said.

                     Mrs. Levesque:

You little shit, you bastard, how could you say that? Get out of my house, and don’t come back. Despite all of the horrible things you did to your sister, she loved you she said it many times. She hated what you did to us as a family, but she loved you. Now she’s gone forever and you still have no respect. You’re evil. Get out of my house and don’t come back! NOW! 

Maryanne sees Joanne’s purse, still near the front door and before exiting the house she picks it up. The keys to the Lexus are at the very top, she slams the front door behind her, presses the remote, gets in the car, backs out of the driveway scraping the Cadillac’s passenger door with the driver’s side mirror.

 
Maryanne has no license, never took lessons and has been behind the wheel a total of three times. Twice sitting on her Dad’s lap in the parking lot at Safeway and once with an older boyfriend who told her, “that was the scariest fifteen minutes of my life”. To this day, no one can explain how Maryanne made it to Westport in one piece.

Scene: EXT. inside the Lexus. Day.

Maryanne is extremely nervous, but she knows it’s just a few more miles to the Armstrong funeral home. Maryanne arrives in the parking lot that is overflowing with cars because of two mid-day viewings.

With nowhere to park, she chooses to drive over a curb because there’s a grassy area that she thinks the car will fit in perfectly. As she hits the 5” asphalt curb, the front tires hop over it and into a muddied knoll. 

Maryanne’s inexperience as a driver is obvious as she lets up on the gas, hits the brake as the two front tires sink into the mud. A front wheel drive vehicle resting on it’s frame now with it’s wheels spinning in a futile effort to move, it’s enough reason to shut the Lexus off, leave the keys and leave it right where it is. 

Scene: INT.The Armstrong Funeral Home.

                     Maryanne:(loudly)
Where are the Orrs? Is Michael Orr’s family here?  Which room is the Orr viewing going to be in? What time is the Orr funeral?

             Ken Armstrong:(funeral director)

Please Miss, please “keep it down”. We have two funerals in progress and you are disturbing the mourners.

                   Maryanne:(whispering)

I’m sorry, but where is my boyfriend? 

                     Ken Armstrong:

I’m sorry miss but Mr. Orr’s body is not here yet. It will be here around 5:00p.m. We then will get Mr.Orr ready for a viewing this evening at 7:00. Mr. and Mrs. Orr should be here soon. Perhaps you can go to their home and get ready yourself and accompany them later this evening?

                        Maryanne:  

I don’t even know them. They probably blame me for his death because my name was on the pill bottle. No, I’ll wait here, if that’s okay.

                     Ken Armstrong:
Certainly Miss. Just step in here (opening a door to a waiting area). There are magazines, coffee and some doughnuts. Just help yourself and we’ll let you know when the Orr’s arrive. 

                        Maryanne:

Okay, Thank-you. 

Scene: INT. the Westport Police Dept. front desk.

                Sergeant Plourde:(on phone) 

Your daughter stole a car, hit another vehicle and is driving without a license to a Westport funeral parlor?

                      Mr. Levesque:

That’s right.

                     Sergeant Plourde:

What funeral home sir? 

                      Mr. Levesque:

I have no clue.

                     Sergeant Plourde:

Who is the deceased?

                     Mr. Levesque:
Michael.

                     Sergeant Plourde:

Michael. Michael sir? Michael what?

                       Mr. Levesque:

I have no idea. We never met the boy.

                     Sergeant Plourde:

Well sir, this is going to take some time, we’ll call you when we have any information.
                      Mr. Levesque:

 Thanks, thanks so much officer, you have our phone number, yes?

                    Sergeant Plourde:

Yes, yes sir we do.

                      Mr. Levesque:  

Well then, thanks again, we’ll look forward to your call.

           Sergeant Plourde:(addressing the officers milling about, prior to a shift change).

Who wants to start their shift with a wild goose chase?

I’m sending this up to the Detective bureau for some research but one of you will have to follow it up…Harris? You’re up. 

                     Officer Harris:
Come on Sarge, why me? Why do I get all this stuff? 

                     Sgt. Plourde:

Quit your bitchin’ or I’ll have you walking a beat at the marina in January. By the time we have all the necessary details, I may have to pass it off to the next shift anyway. 

I think I’ll give it to Jesson. He loves this shit.

Scene: INT: the Armstrong Funeral Home waiting room.

The door opens and it’s a man and woman. It’s Michael’s parents, Mr. and Mrs. Orr.

                        Mrs.Orr:

 Are you Maryanne Lee?
                      Maryanne:

Yes, but its Levesque.

                      Mrs. Orr:
Did you give our son the drugs that killed him? 

                      Maryanne:

Please Mr. and Mrs. Orr, let me explain.

                      Mrs. Orr:

Why are you here? Please leave.  Our son, our son is dead and you killed him! You have to leave. 

                     Maryanne:

Mrs. Orr, you don’t understand. Michael had been taking pain medication for years before we met, since his fall off a stage over two years ago. He simply asked me to get him some because the amount he was able to get were not helping enough, since he never had time to heal properly with his schedule and all. He worked constantly and the pain was really bad at times. I thought I was doing the “right thing” and then this. Please don’t hate me. I love Michael and he loves me.

                      Mrs. Orr:  

Michael is dead. Michael won’t be loving anyone any more. He mentioned you the last time we spoke. He said you were the love of his life and that you were “special”. Maryanne, please explain, how could this happen? Why? 

                       Maryanne:

It was an accident Mrs. Orr, pure and simple. Please forgive me. I could not bear to live with myself if you hold me responsible. My twin sister took her own life on the same day that Michael died and I feel somewhat responsible for her death. I am so sorry, but you MUST forgive me, please.

Mr. and Mrs. Orr looks at Maryanne and almost without hesitation they open their arms to her.

                       Mrs. Orr:

We’re sorry, it’s just…

                       Maryanne:
You don’t need to explain, I understand. Do you mind if I say something at the service? 

                       Mrs. Orr:

Of course not dear, I’m sure Michael would love that. 

Scene: INT: Viewing room #1(Standing room only).

As Maryanne is finishing her short speech, there’s not a dry eye in the house. Her delivery was of a quality expected of someone with experience in public speaking and one who finds themselves very comfortable in doing so. She surely is a professional, a natural, if you will. Mr. and Mrs. Orr are delighted at what Maryanne said and exactly how she said it. They both now know why their son Michael loved her…in fact, they love her now too and you can see it in their faces.

As the crowd begins to dissipate, Maryanne, Michael’s parents and Kenneth Armstrong are approached by a man who was not in attendance at the wake.

                            Man:
I’m Detective Zappulla from the Westport P.D. I’m looking,uh, I’m looking for Maryanne Lee or Levesque.
                         Maryanne:

That’s me. 

                       Det.Zappulla:
Please come with me.

                         Mr. Orr:

Honey, what’s going on? 

                         Maryanne:
Don’t worry, Mr. and Mrs. Orr, it’s a misunderstanding.

                       Det.Zappulla:

The PD sent a detective instead of a patrol officer because of the seriousness of this situation. Grand-theft auto and driving without a license are just two of the charges. If your folks want to press charges, there are others as well, such as hit and run. 

                        Maryanne:

I didn’t hit anybody.

                      Det.Zappulla:

What about your father’s Cadillac when you left your house?

                       Maryanne:

Oh shit, that’s right.

                      Det.Zappulla

You are in a lot of trouble here. You have to come with me.

              Maryanne:(looking back at the Orrs)
Mr. and Mrs. Orr, I’m sorry. I’ll be out in time for the funeral tomorrow morning at 9:00 and I’ll explain.

                      Det.Zappulla: 

If your parents don’t show up to get you, you will not be getting out until they do. Now please give me your hands.

The detective puts her in cuffs. (In the front).

                     Det. Zappulla:

Just procedure. Get in the car and watch your head.

              Maryanne:(talking to herself)

Yeah I know,I know…this is getting to be a habit.

Scene: INT. Westport P.D.

                       Maryanne:

What about my phone call? I need to call my parents.

                     Desk Sergeant:

You’ll get your call.

A few minutes later an officer opens the holding tank door and Maryanne takes a seat at a desk. At almost the same moment, Mr. and Mrs. Orr come through the front door letting the cold air in with them. 

                       Mr. Orr:

We’ve come for Maryanne Levesque, can we see her?

                       Desk Sgt.

Are you the parents?

                        Mr.Orr 

No, but we’ll pay her bail or fines, whatever they are.

                       Desk Sgt.

I’m sorry, sir, ma’am, but ONLY her parents can get her out 

of here.

                        Mrs.Orr.

Why is that? 

                        Desk Sgt.

She’s a minor.

Maryanne is sitting at a desk with phone in hand as she gets a glimpse of Michael’s parents. 

                        Maryanne:

Mr. and Mrs. Orr, hey, please get me out of here. 

                        Mrs. Orr:

We’re trying sweetie, just hang on.

                        Mrs. Orr:

Please officer, this young woman lost her boyfriend (our son) and twin sister on the same day, whatever else she’s done is excusable, isn’t it, she hasn’t killed or hurt anyone has she?

                        Desk Sgt.

No. er,no. 

                        Mr. Orr:

Please, let her out. We’ll take 100% responsibility, pay any fines or bail and won’t let her out of our sight. Just let her out until my son’s funeral is over and we’ll bring her back here or return her to her parents if that’s what you or they want.

                        Desk Sgt.

I suppose if her parents agree we could arrange something. 

He calls the Levesque house and catches them just as they  are leaving to retrieve their daughter.

                        Desk Sgt.

Mr. Levesque? This is the Westport PD. There’s a Mr. and Mrs. Orr here trying to get your Maryanne released.

                      Mr. Levesque:

Who? What are you talking about?

                    Desk Sgt.(cont’d)

Let me let you speak with them.

After a brief explanation of who why what and where, the Levesque’s agree. 

                      Mrs. Orr:

We’ll deliver her to your home before 7:00 p.m. tomorrow Mr. Levesque. We promise, she’ll be in good hands. We can’t thank you enough for letting us do this. You won’t be disappointed, I promise.

Mrs. Orr hands the phone back to the officer and the arrangements are made. 

                      Desk Sgt.

Her Dad is NOT pressing charges, so all you need to do is sign her out.

                      Mrs. Orr:

Thank you officer, can we get her now?

                      Desk Sgt.

Yes, ma’am. 

Maryanne walks out of a room with tears in her eyes. It’s hugs all around.

                     Maryanne: 

I can’t thank you enough. I knew it I knew you would come. That’s what Michael would do too. Thank you.

                      Mr. Orr:

Your welcome. Come on let’s go. We have to get back.

The three of them go directly to the Orr family home where a crowd has assembled in the enormous family/living room area. One brother and sister from out of state, several uncles and aunts and various cousins and family friends together for a final goodbye to a genuinely loved family member. 

                 BOB:(Michaels Brother) 

His talents and compassion will always be the most noteworthy attributes we all remember.

His demons, were such a small part of his short life, none of us should dwell on them. The fact that he died as a result of them should be fair warning that, the good DO die young and none of us are exempt from tragedy. We Love You Michael.

                    Someone adds.

Here Here.

                    Maryanne:(narrating)

My family sure could learn from these folks. Unconditional love is everywhere in this room. I hope it’s communicable and I catch it, bring it home and infect all the Levesque’s with it. I can only hope.

I love this family more than my own and I’ve known them two days. I have to change that and I will. I will become the kind of person Michael was. I will become a better person. I will, starting now, do what’s right. It will be Michael’s legacy. It will be my second life.

Maryanne decides to stand up and say something, before she bursts.

                        Maryanne:

For those of you who don’t know me, which is almost all of you, I need to tell you something. Michael Orr was my first love. My one and only love. I loved him from the minute I met him, I love him now and I’ll love him forever. Now, I know why. With parents, a brother, a sister, uncles, aunts, cousins and close friends like you all, it’s no wonder he was the person he was. I want you all to know at this very sad time I’ve found some happiness. I’m happy because I had Michael in my life. I’m happy knowing that now, you have all made me a better person…a person like Michael, a person like you. I will never, ever forget it.  Thank you all very, very much.

Everyone in the room is crying. Mr. and Mrs. Orr, at 50 plus years old, had never heard such eloquence from anyone, especially a teenager. Maryanne you can see is theirs now too.

In just a few hours they fell in love with her as their son did. He was right. She is special.  

                   Maryanne:(narrating)

As funerals go Michael’s was no different. A sad occasion, to say the very least. Hundreds showed up. Michaels entire family, teachers, school chums, acting friends, the band, producers, directors and an array of people he befriended that almost nobody else knew, all with one thing in common. He touched their souls and they loved him. His last two years, a struggle that not a single person that knew him, even considered could taint what a talented, wonderful young man he was. He will be sorely missed but not forgotten.  

It’s almost 6:00 and as promised the Orrs are delivering their new “daughter” to her parents.

Scene: INT. the Orrs car. Night

                       Maryanne:
Would it be okay to visit on my way to the City when I go, since you live so close?

            Mr. and Mrs. Orr:(in unison)

Absolutely.

                   Maryanne:(laughing)

Wow, stereo!

                       Maryanne:

I have to finish school and then I’ll enroll in NYCPA if 

they’ll have me.

                       Mrs. Orr:
They’ll have you honey, that’s a given.

When they arrive at the Levesque house, both Don and Lynn Orr feel compelled to meet Maryanne’s parents. 

Both of Maryanne’s parents come outside as soon as they hear the car in their driveway.

                      Maryanne:

Mom, Dad, this is Don and Lynn Orr, Michael’s parents. 

                   All Four Parents:

Hello, hi, hi, hello.

                     Mrs. Orr:

You have a very special daughter here Mr. and Mrs. Levesque. We want to thank you for trusting us with her care. She was a “point of light” during a very dark time the last two days and we simply wanted to express our thanks.   

                    Mrs. Levesque:  

No, thank you. Thank you for taking care of her and bringing her to us. By the way, we are very sorry for your loss. 

                      Mr. Orr:

Well, we are all going through a difficult period now aren’t we? We are very sorry for your loss as well. If Maryanne can do the same for your family as she did for ours, you’ll get through it, as shall we. It won’t be easy but we will get through this. We have to go. It was very nice to meet you all. Maryanne? Be sure to come to Westport when you’re in NY okay? Love you.

                      Maryanne:

Love you too, drive safely.

Scene: Int. The Levesque kitchen.

                     Mr. Levesque:

Wow, that was interesting. I guess your acting skills are better than we imagined.

                      Maryanne:

I’m not going to go there Dad.

Mom, Dad, I’m not going to let you push my buttons now. Not anymore. I have decided it’s time to let go of all of that ugly stuff. With Joanne gone and Michael dead my two connections to this world are really never coming back. I know that now. All of the bad things I’ve ever done, the disappointments, the disrespect and the lack of remorse for those acts are behind me. I’ll be seventeen soon enough and I still have 2 ½ years of high school to finish. I want you to be proud of me. I want you to look at me and think to yourselves” we did a great job with her”. Like you did with Joanne. I love you both very much. I’m sorry I was a horrible sister and daughter for so long. I want to change. I will change. I am changing now.

Please forgive me. If Joanne were here I would be saying this to her too. The loss of Michael and the observing of how a happy, loving family works has opened my eyes.

I hope you believe me because I haven’t given you any reason to yet. Have faith in me. I am already a better person and I’m willing to prove it.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Levesque looked shocked. They can see their little girl is growing up right before their eyes and they like it. No, they love it. They appear well, proud.

Without saying a word, Maryanne’s parents nod their approval at what their remaining daughter is suggesting, and a hug and a kiss from each of them is all she needs to know her second life has begun.

                        Maryanne:

I am so tired…I’m going to bed. Good night, I love you. I’ll see you in the morning.

                     Mrs. Levesque: 

Maryanne? Joanne’s service is tomorrow at 10:00. I’ll wake you no later than 8:00.

                        Maryanne:

Okay, 8:00 is fine.

                      Mr. Levesque:

Goodnight honey.

                       Maryanne:

Night Dad. Night Mom.

                  Mr. Levesque:(to his wife)

I hope this isn’t some scam she’s pulling.

                     Mrs. Levesque:

I don’t think so honey. Not this time.

Scene: INT: the Parsons Funeral Home Main viewing room. Mr. Parsons is about to speak. 

Joanne looks as beautiful as possible lying in her blue (her favorite color) stainless steel coffin. 

                      Bob Parsons:

The viewing will be immediately followed by a service in the chapel. 

That will last approximately 20-30 minutes and be followed by a procession to the “Saint Anne’s Cemetery”, just two miles from the funeral parlor. If anyone would like to say a few words then, please give your name to one of the attendants and we’ll include you on the list.

Maryanne is hoping she doesn’t get stage fright when she speaks. This is as important as it gets for her to show her folks, relatives, friends and everybody that knows the twins, that things are different now, things have changed, that she’s a better person now, that the past is not necessarily a predictor of future behavior and anybody at anytime can become a better person. She HAS to do this well and she will. She’s confident. Nervous, but confident.

As the funeral procession moves slowly towards the cemetery, Mr. and Mrs. Levesque, saddened by their loss, look at their only daughter.

                     Mrs. Levesque:

Maryanne? Are you alright? 

                        Maryanne:

I’m fine. I’ll be fine, how about you?

                      Mr. Levesque

We’re doing okay, but we’re concerned about you.

                        Maryanne:

Well Mom, Dad, I wish I had said a lot of things to Joanne. I’ll never get to say them now. I was just so jealous of her. She was smarter, prettier, quieter and a much better person. I never hated her really. I hated me. I hated me for not being like her and every time I saw her I was reminded of how I’ll never be her and it hurt. It hurt because we couldn’t be close. It hurt because neither of us tried to fix it and it hurt because it was like that, as far back as I can remember. If I were her I would have hated me. I’d understand if she did.

                     Mrs. Levesque:

She didn’t Maryanne, she didn’t. 

The hearse and limousine carrying Joanne’s casket and the Levesque’s pull up to a freshly dug grave. 50 or more flower arrangements transferred from Parson’s while everyone was in the chapel are arranged beautifully. The mourner’s cars are lined up for what seems like a mile as they begin to assemble at Joanne’s grave. 

The pastor says a prayer and asks who would like to speak first.

                        Maryanne: 

I would.

Maryanne walks to the podium and begins.

                        Maryanne:

First, I want to thank you all for coming today. I wish we could all be together for a more joyous occasion, however that isn’t the case. My sister, my twin sister and I, as many of you know did not get along well at times. Well, most of the time. I want you all to know it was never her fault. As most of you also know Joanne was the “good twin”. I guess, no…I know, I was the bad twin.

I want to say publicly, in front of all of you, I’m sorry. I’m sorry to you Mom and to you Dad. I was wrong. I was stubborn and I was stupid. I want to apologize to the rest of our family who witnessed any of the stupid, rude, crude and wrong things I said or did. I want to apologize to Joanne’s friends who I may have offended with my behavior and my friends that I may have turned against my sister because they were MY friends and not hers. I want to say I’m sorry for any pain or hurt I may have inflicted on any one of you and all of you, but above all I want to say I’m sorry to Joanne. I beg her forgiveness and from this day forward I will do everything in my power to prove how very sorry I am. Some of you may know my boyfriend died on the same day as my sister. The void in my heart and soul is not even imaginable. My twin is gone and my love is gone, but I learned something the other day. The power of forgiveness is enormous. I just hope Joanne has it in her “soul” to forgive me. I love you sis, I am truly sorry and I’ll miss you and thank you for opening my eyes and giving me a chance, at a second life. I won’t squander this one. I promise.

No one else spoke. That was it. It was over. Mr. and Mrs. Levesque were in tears as was everybody else.

Christa Aimad was inconsolable for most of the wake and funeral. She also appeared to be in a state of shock.

The alcohol that fueled this nightmare will never be a part of her life again…never…and…it isn’t.

Although, difficult to do, a month or so later, Christa thought it wise to explain to her parents and the Levesque’s what happened that fateful night. To explain her and Joanne’s connection was the hardest thing she ever did. Both the Levesque’s and her parents did not blame her for what happened and saw in her the “new person” she had become in recent weeks. “Joanne’s suicide was not your fault”, they all agreed. Joanne had issues that ran much deeper than your relationship and they were glad that Joanne had “love” in her life, even if it was for just a short time).     
Scene: INT. An auditorium, nearly three years later at Maryanne’s High school Graduation ceremony.

                 Maryanne:(narrating)

My parents are taking photos of their daughter’s big day. I was fortunate to graduate at the top of my class. I also starred in the class play, got my license and have been driving the Lexus SUV (damage still intact). I think Joanne would approve. I miss Joanne and Michael like it happened yesterday, but I refuse to let it impede me.

I’ve been taking advanced dancing, singing and acting classes in NY on the weekends and visiting the Orrs regularly, even staying overnight occasionally. Don and Lynn Orr have accepted me as their daughter and I stay in Michael’s old room with his “things” still in it, whenever I stay there.  
I was accepted at NYCPA for the fall semester and instead of paying exorbitant rent in NY the Orrs offered me Michael’s room for free.

It is agreed upon by all the parents that Maryanne will be living with the Orrs while attending college in the “City”. It’s a short (15 minute) train ride to Manhattan and a much less expensive alternative.

Scene: EXT. the Levesque home. Day.

The day of Maryanne’s departure to Westport, A police car shows up in the Levesque driveway. An officer gets out with a large manila envelope. The contents are Joanne’s belongings and a copy of the note that was found in her pocket, the original in the police files at the station.

Mr. Levesque is at work. Only Maryanne and her Mom are at home. He knocks. Mrs. Levesque answers the door. 

                Mrs. Levesque:(almost crying)
 Yes?

    Police Officer:(handing her a very large envelope)

The clothing has been cleaned as best as possible and the contents of your daughter’s pockets are all there. The note is a copy because we must hang onto the original for obvious reasons. I’m very sorry it took so long, Mrs. Levesque but my Captain thought it was time to return these items. I’m very sorry for your loss.

With that, the officer leaves and Maryanne comes down stairs carrying a large suitcase, almost falling down the steps in the process.

                      Maryanne:

What is it Mom?
                    Mrs. Levesque:

It’s Joanne’s things.

The two of them sit at the island in the kitchen and begin to look at the contents. The Boston College t-shirt that Chris gave Joanne. The Levi’s 501’s that Joanne wore until they were almost ready to stand on their own. Underwear, bra, a pair of blue knee-highs and a ticket stub from a recent movie Joanne went to with Chris and, of course that note.

Mrs. Levesque opens the folded note.  

It simply says.

I’m sorry Mom and Dad. Tell Maryanne I never hated her. I loved her. I envied her. I wanted to be her. Tell Chris that I loved her too, but I was too weak to explain how much. Please forgive me.

“Joanne”.

When the two of them are done, Mrs. Levesque looks at Maryanne and Maryanne looks at her Mom. With tears in both their eyes without saying a word, they felt comforted.

                     Mrs. Levesque:

See? I told you. She loved you so much. You two were just different. If she just came to us and told us how she was feeling maybe we could have stopped this from happening, but she didn’t. I hope this helps you Maryanne.

                       Maryanne:

It does Mom, it does. 

                    Mrs. Levesque:

You better get going. The Orrs are expecting you before dark and they’ll worry. Tell them thanks again from Dad and me and make sure you come home as much as possible. Call us every day, okay?

                     Maryanne:

I will Mom. I’ll call Dad from the car once I get on the road. He said his goodbyes this morning before he left but I want to talk to him again.

                   Mrs. Levesque:

Okay, honey. I love you.

                    Maryanne:

Love you too Mom.

A hug and a kiss and Maryanne is gone. She puts her things in the Lexus. Pulls out of the driveway, waves another goodbye and realizes she is beginning another chapter in her second life.   

The next four years go by in a flash. Maryanne is  flourishing at school. Since her sophomore year she’s been a teacher’s assistant in her acting class. That same year, her vocal coach selects her for a solo for the Christmas show and she doesn’t disappoint. She is taking a writing course that has produced three one act plays. She is the senior advisor for the new students and is counseling sophomores and juniors on which direction they want to go in, after graduation. Her dance instructor nominated her for “most improved dancer” and she is more “fit” than ever before in her life.

Maryanne could not be happier. The Orrs and her parents have become as close as family and her parents have learned, from them, what she learned from Michael.

The winner of the “best male actor” award (coincidentally, his name is Michael) at NYCPA has taken a liking to her, mesmerized by her attitude, performances and beauty and she has been reciprocating the feelings for awhile now. They have dated since the second week of senior year. In fact, they have agreed to share an apartment in the city after graduation if they both decide to stay in NY. You could say, they’re “in love”. 

Graduation is almost here and an offer to be an “understudy” for a huge star in a hugely successful musical is on the table. The original cast is taking it on the road and “Broadway” has come calling. The day after graduation, rehearsals begin. She accepts, memorizes her lines, dance routines and every song before she begins. She saw the play three times already and has a video they sell in the lobby between acts.

Scene: INT. Back at the NYCPA graduation ceremony. 

The students are all standing and milling about with parents and friends, taking photos, laughing and celebrating now. Maryanne is looking for her parents and the Orrs. She spots them talking to the “new” Michael and Michael, it appears, has been asking her Mom and Dad (and the Orrs) something. As she gets nearer to them… 

               Michael:(very excitedly)

They said yes, they all said YES!

                       Maryanne:

What? Michael, what are you talking about? 

               Michael:(on one knee now)

I love you. Will you marry me?

Maryanne looks at her parents and the Orrs. They each have a smile of approval.

                      Maryanne:

YES! 

A crowd has gathered and with her answer, dozens of students, teachers, instructors, professors and more importantly her “family” begin applauding.

                     Maryanne:

This is the newest, biggest day of my life, I wish Joanne were here.  

                  Mrs. Levesque:

She is honey, believe me, she is.

Roll credits:(minimized to the right) as film continues: 

Scene: INT. a beautifully decorated hall. DAY.

A 12piece orchestra is playing. Maryanne is singing a selection from her first major Broadway role as the star. She’s in her wedding gown at her and Michael’s wedding reception. The entire cast of the production is in attendance and there are another 400 guests. Mr. and Mrs. Levesque and the Orrs are at the very first table and each of them look happier than they have been, in a very long time. Their “little girl” looks happy too, she’s worked hard for it and she deserves it.

Fade to black momentarily. 

Closing scene: EXT. The shore 5 years later, July 4th. DAY.
A “family day” at the beach in Southern Ct. Two children, little girls, twins in fact, are playing near the shoreline. Their parents, (Michael and Maryanne), are watching closely as they get a little too close to the water.

                      Maryanne:

Girls, please don’t go in the water without your father or me. Girls! Joanne, Michaela, stop right there!

Their Dad is already standing in case they fail to listen to their Mom. 

The girls turn around and come running back the few feet to where their parents are sitting in their beach chairs. Smiling, laughing and holding hands the sunlight bouncing off their beautiful little faces. Dark hair, azure blue eyes and smiles a parent cannot be mad at for long, the twins are obviously inseparable. Fun like this doesn’t happen everyday, but when it does, it’s special and as a family they all know it and appreciate it. Maryanne’s parents, the Orrs, the Orr’s daughter, Valerie and Michael’s parents are back at the cottage waiting for the rest of their clan to show up for a huge barbecue and then fireworks, later in the evening. 

The girls sit down half on the blanket and half in the sand, so closely together they are touching from shoulders to ankles.

                         Jo-Jo:

(digging at the white sand, turns her head to her twin, Michaela).

I Love you.

              Michaela:(with a child’s giggle)

Me too.
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